THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001946
Case No. 2015-CP-18-1571

Progressive Direct Insurance Co., and USAA General Indemnity Company,
.....Respondents,

v.

Shanna Groves as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Lynn Harrison,
.....Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

March 14, 2018

John P. Linton, Jr. (SC Bar # 79130)
Walker Gressette Freeman & Linton, LLC
P.O. Box 22167
Charleston, SC 29413
(843) 727-2200
Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED

MAR 16 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Ryan H. Sigal (SC Bar #80223)
Miller, Dawson, Sigal & Ward, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in ruling that Redman's vehicle was not causally connected to the assault when the vehicle was used as an active accessory to the assault, both Redman and Harrison were driving at the time of the incident, Redman's position in relation to Harrison was completely dependent upon the use of his vehicle, Resman used his vehicle to stalk Harrison before the assault, the vehicle was more than situs of the injury, and the injuries were foreseeably identified with the normal use of an automobile?

- II. Did the circuit court err in ruling that Redman's firing of a gun was an intervening act of independent significance breaking any causal connection with the use of his vehicle when Redman's use of his vehicle and the shooting were inextricably linked as one continuing assault?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following the death of Lynn Harrison ("Harrison"), Respondent Progressive Direct Insurance Co. ("Progressive") sued Appellant, Shanna Groves¹ as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Lynn Harrison ("Appellant" or "the Estate"), seeking a declaratory judgment that the uninsured motorist policy Respondent had issued did not provided coverage for the death of Ms. Harrison. **(Compl.)** On September 17, 2015, Progressive and USAA General Indemnity Company ("USAA") (collectively, "Respondents" or "the Insurers") filed an Amended Complaint, adding USAA as an additional Plaintiff. In the Amended Complaint, the Insurers sought a declaratory judgment that that the uninsured motorist policies Respondents had issued did not provide coverage for the death of Ms. Harrison. **(Am. Compl.)**

Appellant answered the Amended Complaint on November 3, 2015, denying that the Insurers were entitled to a declaratory judgment and asserting that the policies provide coverage. **(Answer)**. On May 9, 2016, the Insurers filed a Motion for Summary Judgement. **(Pls. Mot.**

¹ The Defendant was initially named as "James Mark Harrison as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Lynn Harrison." However, by Form 4 Order filed on February 8, 2017, Shana Groves was substituted in this case as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Lynn Harrison. **(Form 4 Order filed February 8, 2017).**

Summ. J.). On January 27, 2017, the Estate filed a Cross Motion for Summary Judgement. (**Def. Cross Mot. Summ. J.**). On February 17, 2017, the Honorable Alison Renee Lee held a hearing on the Insurers' Motion for Summary Judgement and the Estate's Cross Motion for Summary Judgement. (**Order**). On August 2, 2017, Judge Lee issued an Order granting the Insurers' motion and denying the Estate's motion. (**Order**). Appellant timely served a Notice of Appeal on September 15, 2017. (**Notice of Appeal**).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 2, 2015, Lynn Harrison was driving a 2010 GMC Terrain eastbound on East Carolina Avenue, which became Old Trolley Road, just before the intersection of Old Trolley Road and Bacons Bridge Road in Summerville, South Carolina. (**Am. Compl. ¶ 10**) (**Answer, ¶ 11**) ("Defendant admits that Mrs. Harrison was operating a vehicle on East Carolina Avenue in Summerville, South Carolina at the time of the incident."); (**Pls. Request to Admit to Def. #6**); (**Def. Res. To Pls. Request to Admit #6**). At the same time, Jimi Carl Redman, Jr. ("Redman") was driving a red Ford Escape eastbound on Old Trolley Road in the lane directly to Lynn Harrison's right. (**Pls. Request to Admit to Def. #8**); (**Def. Res. To Pls. Request to Admit #8**). She "was operating her vehicle in a normal and reasonably foreseeable fashion." (**Pls. Am. Res to Def. Requests for Admission, #7**). While driving toward the stop light at the intersection of Old Trolley Road and Bacons Bridge Road, Redman was blowing kisses and making hand gestures toward Harrison from his vehicle. (**Pls. Res to Def. Requests for Admission, #1**) (Respondents admitting that Redman was blowing kisses and making hand gestures toward Harrison *while driving*). (**Plaintiffs Request to Admit No. 16**); (**Witness statement of Jennifer Rojas**). Then, after pulling up to the stop light, Redman shot Harrison from his vehicle. Both Redman and Harrison's vehicles were "*turned on and in drive*" when Redman shot Harrison. (**Pls. Am. Res**

to Def. Requests for Admission, #3) (double emphasis added); **(Pls. Am. Res to Def. Requests for Admission, #8)** (Plaintiffs admitting that Redman’s “vehicle was turned on and being operated, which includes applying the brakes of his vehicle in drive at a stop light, directly before the shooting, during the shooting, and right after the shooting.”). It is uncontested that Harrison “was operating her vehicle in a normal and reasonably foreseeable fashion” at the time Redman fatally wounded her. **(Pls. Am. Res to Def. Requests for Admission, #7)**. Harrison’s vehicle, which was turned on, in drive, and being operated in a normal and reasonably foreseeable fashion at the time she was shot, proceeded slowly through the intersection until it came to rest on the median. **(Pls. Request to Admit to Def. #14); (Def. Res. To Pls. Request to Admit #14)**.

The Ford Escape operated by Redman was not insured at the time of the shooting. **(Pls. Request to Admit to Def. #19); (Def. Res. To Pls. Request to Admit #19)**. Progressive and USAA issued South Carolina Auto Policies to James M. Harrison (Progressive Policy number 19841187-2 and USAA Policy 031913153G71018) (“the policies”) to James M. Harrison, which were in full force and effect on April 2, 2015.² **(Pls.’ Memo in Support of Mot. For Sum. J., Ex. A and Ex. B, the Policies)**. The policies each provides uninsured motorist coverage with limits of twenty-five thousand (\$25,000.00) dollars per person and fifty thousand (\$50,000.00) per accident. **(Pls.’ Memo in Support of Mot. For Sum. J., Ex. A and Ex. B, the Policies)**.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP. Cowburn v. Leventis, 366 S.C. 20, 30, 619 S.E.2d 437, 443 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Trousdell v. Cannon, 351 S.C. 636, 639, 572 S.E.2d 264,

² At all times relevant to this case, Harrison was married to James M. Harrison and resided in his household. **(Pls. Request to Admit to Def. #5); (Def. Res. To Pls. Request to Admit #5)**.

265 (2002)). Summary judgment should be affirmed if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Id. “Our standard of review in evaluating a motion for summary judgment is to liberally construe the record in favor of the nonmoving party and give the nonmoving party the benefit of all favorable inferences that might reasonably be drawn therefrom.” Estes v. Roper Temp. Servs., Inc., 304 S.C. 120, 121, 403 S.E.2d 157, 158 (Ct. App. 1991).

“A declaratory judgment action is neither legal nor equitable, and therefore, the standard of review is determined by the nature of the underlying issue.” Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Newman, 385 S.C. 187, 191, 684 S.E.2d 541, 543 (2009) (citing Colleton County Taxpayers Ass’n v. Sch. Dist. of Colleton County, 371 S.C. 224, 231, 638 S.E.2d 685, 688 (2006)). When the purpose of the underlying dispute is to determine whether coverage exists under an insurance policy, the action is one at law. Horry County v. Ins. Reserve Fund, 344 S.C. 493, 497, 544 S.E.2d 637, 639-640 (Ct.App.2001). When reviewing an action at law, the scope of review is limited to the correction of errors of law. S.C. Dept. of Transp. v. Horry Cnty., 391 S.C. 76, 81, 705 S.E.2d 21, 24 (2011). As explained herein, the circuit court committed several errors of law in its Order and the Order should be reversed and judgment entered for Appellant.

ARGUMENT

Under South Carolina law, an automobile insurance policy may not be issued or delivered in this state unless it contains a provision insuring the persons defined as insured against loss from the liability imposed by law for damages “arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use” of a motor vehicle. S.C. Code § 38–77–140. An injury arises out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of an automobile if: (1) there is a causal connection between the vehicle and the injury; (2) no act of independent significance occurred which broke the causal link; and (3) the vehicle was being

used for transportation at the time of the assault. State Farm & Cas. Co. v. Aytes, 332 S.C. 30, 33, 503 S.E.2d 744, 745 (1998).

A causal connection exists between the vehicle and the injury when the following elements are satisfied: “(a) the vehicle was an ‘active accessory’ to the assault; and (b) something less than proximate cause but more than mere site of the injury; and (c) that the ‘injury must be foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of [the vehicle].” State Farm Mut. Ins. Co. v. Bookert, 337 S.C. 291, 523 S.E.2d 181 (1999) (citing Aytes, 332 S.C. at 33, 503 S.E.2d at 745–46); Doe v. South Carolina State Budget & Control Bd., 337 S.C. 294, 297, 523 S.E.2d 457, 458 (1999); Wausau Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Howser, 309 S.C. 269, 422 S.E.2d 106 (1992). “No distinction is made as to whether the injury resulted from a negligent, reckless, or intentional act.” Wright v. North Area Taxi, Inc., 337 S.C. 419, 424, 523 S.E.2d 472, 474 (Ct.App.1999) (citing Home Ins. Co. v. Towe, 314 S.C. 105, 107, 441 S.E.2d 825, 827 (1994)).

As explained herein, the Circuit Court incorrectly ruled that “[t]here was no causal connection between Redman’s automobile and the gunshot injuries suffered by Harrison” and incorrectly ruled that “the shot fired by Redman was an act of independent significance breaking any causal connection to the use of his automobile.” (**Order, 6**). In fact, as explained herein all three requirements for coverage are present in this case.³

³ There is no dispute that Redman’s vehicle was being used for transportation at the time of the incident. See (**Pls. Am. Res to Def. Requests for Admission, #8**). Therefore, the only elements at issue are whether “there is a causal connection between the vehicle and the injury” and “no act of independent significance occurred which broke the causal link.” See Aytes, at 33, 503 S.E.2d at 745.

- I. **The circuit court committed error of law in ruling that Redman’s vehicle was not causally connected to the assault when the vehicle was used as an active accessory to the assault, both Redman and Harrison were driving at the time of the incident, Redman’s position in relation to Harrison was completely dependent upon the use of his vehicle, Resman used his vehicle to stalk Harrison before the assault, the vehicle was more than situs of the injury, and the injuries were foreseeably identified with the normal use of an automobile.**

The circuit court committed error of law in ruling that the gunshot injuries suffered by Harrison were not causally connected to Redman’s use of his vehicle. As explained herein, the vehicle was an active accessory to the assault, the vehicle was more than mere site of the injury, and the injury was foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the vehicle. Redman used his vehicle for more than transportation to the situs of the incident—he shot Harrison while both his vehicle and Harrison’s were turned on and in drive. (Pls. Am. Res to Def. Requests for Admission, #3); (Pls. Am. Res to Def. Requests for Admission, #8) (Plaintiffs admitting that Redman’s “vehicle was turned on and being operated, which includes applying the brakes of his vehicle in drive at a stop light, directly before the shooting, during the shooting, and right after the shooting.”). Additionally, it is worth noting that Redman shot Harrison while she was operating her vehicle in a normal and reasonably foreseeable fashion. See (Pls. Am. Res to Def. Requests for Admission, #1) (Plaintiff admitting that Redman was blowing kisses and making hand gestures toward Lynn Harrison while driving); (Pls. Am. Res to Def. Requests for Admission, #7) (It is uncontested that Harrison “was operating her vehicle in a normal and reasonably foreseeable fashion” at the time Redman fatally wounded her).

The circuit court did not cite any case wherein both the assailant and the victim were driving at the time of the incident and a court found that the vehicle was not an active accessory to the assault. However, the South Carolina Supreme Court has twice found a causal connection between a vehicle and an injury on facts similar to the instant case. The circuit court erred in

departing from those decisions. See (Order, 3-4); Wausau Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Howser, 309 S.C. 269, 422 S.E.2d 106 (1992); and Home Ins. Co. v. Towe, 314 S.C. 105, 441 S.E.2d 825 (1994).

a. **The South Carolina Supreme Court has twice found a causal connection between a vehicle and an injury on facts similar to the instant case and the circuit court erred in departing from those decisions**

In Wausau Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Howser, our Supreme Court determined that an insurer is liable under the uninsured motorist provision for gunshot injuries inflicted during a vehicular chase by an unknown owner or operator of an unidentified vehicle. In that case, Howser (while driving a vehicle owned by her father) and her passenger were “bumped” from behind. Id. at 270, 422 S.E.2d at 107. Howser looked in the rear-view mirror and saw a car behind them with a driver and no passengers. Id. That car bumped her vehicle two more times and Howser accelerated. Id. “Neither Howser nor Shealy was hurt when the other vehicle bumped [Howser’s vehicle].” Id.

The driver of the other car, who was unknown to them, pulled his car alongside Howser’s vehicle, yelled at them to roll down their window, slow down and stop their car, and pointed a pistol at passenger window. Id. Howser turned onto a side street to avoid the stranger, but as she completed the turn, the gunman shot at her vehicle and a bullet entered Howser’s back. Id. The gunman continued traveling and was never identified. Id. Significantly, “[t]he injuries that Howser sustained were the result of the gunshot. . . [—n]either Howser nor [the passenger] was hurt when the other vehicle bumped the [Howser’s].” Id.

The Supreme Court found a causal connection existed:

. . . it is apparent that the unknown vehicle was an active accessory to this assault. This is *not a case in which the assailant merely used the vehicle to provide transportation to the situs of the shooting Nor is it a case where the assailant happened, incidentally, to be sitting in a stationary vehicle at the time of the attack.* Only through use of his vehicle was the assailant able to closely pursue Howser, thereby enabling him to carry out the pistol assault. The gunshot was the

culmination of an ongoing assault, in which the vehicle played an essential and integral part. Additionally, only a motor vehicle could have provided the assailant a quick and successful escape. Thus, we find a sufficient causal connection exists between the use of the assailant's vehicle and Howser's injuries.

Id. at 273 (double emphasis added).⁴

Home Insurance Co. v. Towe is equally apposite. In that case, the Court found that a causal connection existed between an assailant's use of his vehicle and the injuries sustained by the driver of a tractor. 314 S.C. 105, 106, 441 S.E.2d 825, 826 (1994). In Towe, Brian Towe drove a vehicle in which Jerry Alexander was a passenger. At some point, Alexander threw a bottle from the moving vehicle at a road sign, but instead of striking the sign, the bottle shattered on the steering wheel of a tractor that was being driven in the opposite direction. Id. at 106, 441 S.E.2d at 826. The glass struck and injured the driver of the tractor. Id. The Court determined that a causal connection existed between Towe's use of his vehicle and the injuries sustained by the driver of the tractor, as "[t]he use of the automobile placed Alexander in the position to throw the bottle at the sign and the vehicle's speed contributed to the velocity of the bottle increasing the seriousness" of the injuries inflicted upon the driver of the tractor. See id. The Court determined that Towe's car was an active accessory that gave rise to the injuries sustained. Like in Howser, the court considered the "use of the automobile and Alexander's throwing of the bottle were ... 'inextricably linked' as one continuing act." Id. at 108, 441 S.E.2d at 827. Howser and Towe have not been overruled, were binding upon the circuit court's decision, and the circuit court erred by issuing an

⁴ In so ruling, the Court noted that under the statute in effect at the time, no physical contact with the vehicle is necessary when a witness other than the owner or driver of the insured vehicle is available to attest to the facts of the accident. Id. 275, 422 S.E.2d at 110 ("we hold no physical contact with the unknown vehicle is necessary when a witness other than the owner or driver of the insured vehicle is available to attest to the facts of the accident.").

order inconsistent with these opinions. See e.g., Holmes v. Allstate Ins. Co., 786 F. Supp. 2d 1022, 1025-26 (D.S.C. 2009) (discussing both Howser and Towe at length).

b. The circuit court erroneously distinguished Howser and Towe.

The circuit court strained to distinguish Howser and Towe. See (Order, 4). The circuit court ultimately ruled those cases distinguishable from this case because, as stated by the circuit court, (i) Redman did not use his automobile to keep up with Harrison; (ii) Redman did not make contact with Harrison's vehicle; (iii) there was no evidence Harrison saw Redman driving beside her or that she was aware of Redman's gestures to her; and (iv) Redman's use of the vehicle did not contribute to the seriousness of Harrison's injuries. **(Order, 4)**.

- i. The circuit court committed error of law in finding that Howser and Towe require a showing that the assailant's vehicle be used to "keep up" with the victim and that Redman did not use his vehicle to pursue Harrison.

Towe does not require that an assailant use the vehicle to "keep up" with his victim. In that case, the victim was travelling on a tractor in the opposite direction of the assailant. See Towe, 314 S.C. 105, 106, 441 S.E.2d 825, 826 (1994). Clearly, Towe does not require that the assailant's vehicle be used to "keep up" with the victim, because the assailant and the victim were moving in opposite directions. Id.

In Howser, the assailant used his vehicle to pursue the victim, who was also driving at the time. See Howser, 309 S.C. at 271, 422 S.E.2d at 107. In reviewing the facts of that case and finding the vehicle was an active accessory to the assault, the Court explained that "[t]his is not a case in which the assailant merely used the vehicle to provide transportation to the situs of the shooting Nor is it a case where the assailant happened, incidentally, to be sitting in a stationary vehicle at the time of the attack." Id. at 273, 422 S.E.2d at 108. The Court further noted that "[t]he gunshot was the culmination of an ongoing assault, in which the vehicle played an essential and

integral part . . .[and]. . . only a motor vehicle could have provided the assailant a quick and successful escape.”

The instant case is on all fours with any requirement from Howser that the vehicle be used to “keep up” with the victim and the circuit court ignored the undisputed facts in reaching a contrary conclusion. The circuit court ignored that Redman used his vehicle to stalk Harrison while she was driving. Specifically, the circuit court ignored that Redman was driving his vehicle in the lane directly next to Harrison, that she was operating her vehicle in a normal and reasonably foreseeable fashion, and that while driving toward a stop light Redman was blowing kisses and making hand gestures toward Harrison from his vehicle. **(Pls. Request to Admit to Def. #8); (Def. Res. To Pls. Request to Admit #8). (Pls. Am. Res to Def. Requests for Admission, #7). (Pls. Res to Def. Requests for Admission, #1).** Simply put, Redman used his vehicle to stalk Harrison before shooting her. Therefore, based upon the undisputed facts in the record, Redman’s position in relation to Harrison was completely dependent upon the use of his vehicle.

- ii. The circuit court erred in finding that Howser and Towe require a showing that the assailant’s vehicle make physical contact with the victim’s vehicle.

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