IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001946
Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-18-01571

RECEIVED
JUN 13 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Progressive Direct Insurance Co., and
USAA General Indemnity Company, Respondents,

v.

Shanna Groves as the Personal Representative of the
Estate of Lynn Harrison.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Wesley B. Sawyer, Esquire
S.C. Bar No. 100229
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.
P.O. Box 6648
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 782-4100
wsawyer@murphygrantland.com
Attorney for Respondents

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court correctly held that a shooting from one stationary vehicle into another stationary vehicle does not arise out of the use of an auto. Applying the three-factor test from *Aytes*, Redman's use of the vehicle was not causally connected to Harrison's injury. Our Supreme Court in *Aytes* adopted three sub-factors to determine whether a vehicle is causally connected to a claimant's injury. Appellant fails to establish any of those three sub-factors. First, the Supreme Court in *Bookert* held that gunshot injuries such as the one here are not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an auto. Second, Redman did not use the vehicle as an active accessory to the assault, and his use of the vehicle did not increase the severity of Harrison's injuries. Third, the vehicle was merely the site from which Redman fired the gun.

Even if Appellant could show a causal connection, Appellant fails to satisfy the second *Aytes* factor. Redman's action of firing the gun after both vehicles were stopped and stationary constitutes an intervening action that breaks any causal connection that may exist between Redman's use of the auto and Harrison's injuries. Therefore, the Circuit Court's Order should be affirmed.

I. The Circuit Court correctly found Redman's use of the Ford Escape was not causally connected to Harrison's injuries because gunshot injuries are not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an auto, the vehicle was not an "active accessory" to the shooting, and the vehicle was merely the site from which Redman fired the gun.

"An insured is legally entitled to recover damages arising out of the 'ownership, maintenance, or use' of an uninsured vehicle." *Aytes*, 332 S.C. at 33, 503 S.E.2d at 745 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-140). The above-quoted Progressive and USAA policies incorporate this statutory language. (R. pp. 41, 48). In *Aytes*, our Supreme Court established the standard for determining whether an injury arises out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of an auto. First, the party seeking coverage – here, the Estate – must prove a causal connection between the vehicle

and the injury. Second, there must be no act of independent significance that breaks the causal link. Third, the vehicle must be used for transportation at the time of the incident.³ *Id.*

In order to prove the causal connection, the Estate must establish three sub-factors: (1) the vehicle was an “active accessory” to the assault; (2) the vehicle was something more than the mere site of the injury; and (3) “[t]he injury must be foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the vehicle.” *Id.* (citations omitted). Appellant failed to present evidence showing Redman’s vehicle was causally connected with Harrison’s injuries. Instead, his use of the vehicle was merely incidental to the shooting, and Harrison’s injuries were not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an auto.

A. Pursuant to the Supreme Court’s holding in *Bookert*, injuries resulting from gunshots fired out of a vehicle window as part of an assault are not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an auto.

As the party seeking coverage, Appellant bears the burden of proving a causal connection between Harrison’s injuries and Redman’s ownership, maintenance or use of an auto. *See Carraway v. Smith*, 321 S.C. 23, 25, 467 S.E.2d 120, 121 (Ct. App. 1996). Therefore, Appellant must prove Harrison’s injuries were “foreseeably identifiable with the *normal* use of the automobile.” *Id.* (emphasis added). However, our Supreme Court held in *Bookert* that similar injuries are not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an auto. Therefore, Appellant failed to meet this burden.

Our Supreme Court in *Bookert* held gunshots fired in connection with an assault are not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an auto. According to stipulated facts in that case, two soldiers from Fort Jackson got into an altercation with a group of young men at a Hardee’s parking lot. *Bookert*, 330 S.C. 221, 224-26, 499 S.E.2d 480, 481-82 (Ct. App. 1997), *rev’d* 337

³ Progressive and USAA do not dispute that Redman was using his vehicle for transportation at the time of the shooting, although his vehicle was stationary.

S.C. 291. After the fight was broken up, the two soldiers took a jeep to pick up a third assailant and followed the group of young men to a nearby McDonald's parking lot. *Id.* The assailants used the jeep to circle the parking lot in search of their intended victims. *Id.* One soldier stood in the back of the jeep with a shotgun while another soldier sat in the passenger seat with a handgun. While yelling at and taunting the group of young men, the jeep lurched forward. The soldier in the back fell out and fired his shotgun into the crowd. While the jeep was still moving, the passenger fired multiple shots into the crowd and struck the plaintiff in each leg. *Id.* The two soldiers in the jeep then used the jeep to flee from the scene, and the third soldier ran off on foot. The claimant was injured from shots fired by the soldier in the passenger seat, not the soldier that fell out of the jeep. *Id.*

The claimant sought underinsured motorist coverage claiming that the injury arose out of the use of an automobile. The Circuit Court and this Court found in favor of the claimant. Specifically, this Court found the vehicle was the "launching pad" for the assault. Moreover, "[t]he vehicle also put the assailants in the position to shoot and then escape quickly and easily. . . . Furthermore, the automobile was in motion when the shots which injured Michael Bookert were fired." *Id.* at 232-33, 499 S.E.2d at 486.

The Supreme Court granted certiorari and reversed, finding there was no causal connection between the vehicle and the injury. *Bookert*, 337 S.C. at 293, 523 S.E.2d at 182. Despite the fact that the assailants used the vehicle to track down the group of young men and fired the gun from a moving vehicle, the Supreme Court held the injuries did not satisfy the third *Aytes* sub-factor: the gunshot wounds were "not 'foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an automobile.'" *Id.*

Id. (quoting *Aytes, supra*). Therefore, no causal connection between the vehicle and the injury existed.⁴

The Supreme Court adopted this “normal use” factor from the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit’s decision in *Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company v. Brown*, 779 F.2d 984 (4th Cir. 1985). In that case, a vehicle operator drove around with his passenger looking for the passenger’s wife. When the passenger saw the wife’s car, he pushed the operator and caused a collision between the two vehicles. He then got out of his vehicle and shot and killed his wife. *Id.* at 986. The Fourth Circuit held the wife’s injuries did not arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of an automobile, stating:

Courts confronted with the general question of whether personal injuries resulting from physical assaults by insured vehicle passengers or operators “arose out of” the ownership, maintenance or use of the vehicle, have almost unanimously found no causal relation between the “use” of the vehicle and such assault-caused injuries.

Id. at 988. Moreover, “[i]n cases dealing with the specific situation here in issue—shooting by a passenger in or operator of an insured vehicle—the decisions have uniformly applied and found unmet a comparable causal requirement.” *Id.* Applying the “normal use” test, the Fourth Circuit quoted favorably from the Michigan Court of Appeals: “An assault by an armed assailant upon the driver of a car is not the type of conduct that is foreseeably identifiable with the *normal* use of a

⁴ Despite Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR, Appellant cites a concurrence in this Court’s unpublished decision in *Norris v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 2005-UP-124, 2005 WL 7083469 (Ct. App. Feb. 17, 2005). However, to the extent that case is considered, its holding actually supports the Circuit Court’s decision in this case. In *Norris*, this Court held shooting injuries were not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an auto despite the fact that the shooter fired from a moving vehicle that was pursuing the victim at the time of the shooting. *Id.* at *3 (“Because we can discern no material distinction from the facts at hand and the facts in the *Bookert* case, we find no error in the trial judge’s determination there was no coverage because the incident was not ‘foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an automobile.’”).

motor vehicle.” *Id.* at 989 (quoting *Detroit Automobile Inter-Insurance Exchange v. Higginbotham*, 95 Mich. App. 213, 290 N.W.2d 414 (1980) (emphasis in original).

Like the claimants in *Bookert*⁵ and *Brown*, Harrison’s injuries are not foreseeably identifiable with the *normal use* of an automobile. Redman’s “use” of the auto here is actually less extensive than the purported “use” at issue in *Bookert*. The assailants in *Bookert* used the vehicle to track down the group of young men, the jeep’s “lurch” forward caused the soldier to fall out and fire into the crowd, and the jeep was in motion at the time of the shooting. In contrast, Redman merely drove the vehicle to the red light where the assault took place, fired a shot from his stationary vehicle at Harrison – who was also stationary – and then used his vehicle to escape. Our Supreme Court found the purported use in *Bookert* insufficient to prove any causal connection to the injuries. Even more so, Redman’s use here does not create any causal connection.

Moreover, Harrison’s injuries are exactly the same as those in *Bookert* and *Brown* – gunshot wounds due to an assault. As the Courts held in *Bookert* and *Brown*, gunshot injuries are not the type of injuries that are foreseeably identifiable with the *normal* use of an automobile. Therefore, Harrison’s death did not arise out of Redman’s use of the vehicle.

B. When a shooter fires a shot from one stationary vehicle into another stationary vehicle, the fact that the shooter fires from within a vehicle does not make the vehicle an “active accessory” to the shooting but merely the site of the assault.

The first and second sub-factors under the *Aytes* causal-connection test interrelate. The vehicle must be an “active accessory” to the assault, and the vehicle must be more than the mere

⁵ In explaining its basis for reversing this Court, the Supreme Court in *Bookert* acknowledged that it rendered its decision in *Aytes* after this Court’s ruling in *Bookert*. See *Bookert*, 337 S.C. at 293, 523 S.E.2d at 182. Because the decision in *Aytes* was the first time South Carolina’s Supreme Court had applied the “normal use” factor under the causal connection analysis, the normal use standard was not considered by this Court in its decision in *Bookert*. Likewise, the Supreme Court’s decision of *Howser* does not address the “normal use” factor because it predates *Aytes* and *Bookert*.

site of the injury or the mere site from which the actor fired a weapon. *Bookert*, 337 S.C. at 293, 523 S.E.2d at 182 (citing *Aytes*, 332 S.C. at 33, 503 S.E.2d at 745-46). Here, Redman's vehicle was merely the site from which he fired the gun. The vehicle has no causal connection to Harrison's injuries, and Redman's use of the vehicle did not increase the severity of her injuries. Therefore, the causal connection does not exist.

The District Court for the District of South Carolina in *Holmes v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 786 F. Supp. 2d 1022 (D.S.C. 2009), held that use of a vehicle in a drive-by shooting does not make the vehicle an "active accessory" to the assault. In that case, an estranged lover had a history of using his truck to stalk the claimant. On the date of the assault, he saw the claimant's vehicle parked in front of her friend's house and drove back and forth, harassing the claimant for some time. Later that day, he saw the claimant driving down the road in the opposite direction. Unbeknownst to her, he turned around to follow. When she stopped her vehicle to wait to pick up a child at a bus stop, the assailant drove up beside her vehicle, stopped briefly, and fired multiple shots into her vehicle seriously injuring the claimant before the assailant drove away. *Id.* at 1024. The District Court held the vehicle was not an active accessory to the assault.⁶ *Id.* at 1027.

In its brief, the Appellant in this case attempts to rely on the *Howser* and *Towe* cases to suggest that uninsured motorist coverage is triggered in this case.⁷ Its reliance on these cases is misplaced for several reasons. The District Court in *Holmes* aptly distinguishes both *Howser* and *Towe* and shows why they do not support Appellant's argument in this case.

⁶ The District Court also held that although "Plaintiff likens the assault on her with that of a drive-by shooting, *Bookert* establishes that such use of a vehicle will not satisfy the causal connection requirement necessary to invoke insurance coverage; since such conduct is not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an automobile." *Id.*

⁷ See *Wausau Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Howser*, 309 S.C. 269, 422 S.E.2d 106 (1992); *Home Ins. Co. v. Towe*, 314 S.C. 105, 441 S.E.2d 825 (1994).

In *Howser*, an unidentified assailant used his vehicle to ram the claimant's vehicle multiple times while chasing her down a public roadway. As the claimant made a "quick" turn in an attempt to flee from the assailant, he shot at her car and the fragmented bullet struck the claimant, injuring her. 309 S.C. at 271, 422 S.E.2d at 106. The Supreme Court held the injuries arose out of the assailant's use of the vehicle because "[o]nly through the use of his vehicle was the assailant able to closely pursue [claimant], thereby enabling him to carry out the pistol assault. The gunshot was the *culmination of an ongoing assault*, in which the vehicle played an essential and integral part." *Howser*, 309 S.C. at 273, 422 S.E.2d at 108 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court also held, "the unknown driver's use of his vehicle and the shooting were *inextricably linked as one continuing assault*." *Id.* at 274, 422 S.E.2d at 109 (emphasis added). Of particular note, the Supreme Court contrasted the facts in *Howser* with those where the "assailant happened, incidentally, to be sitting in a stationary vehicle at the time of the attack." *Id.* at 273, 422 S.E.2d at 108.

In *Towe*, a group of kids were riding in an insured auto when a passenger threw a glass bottle at a street sign. He missed and struck a tractor operated by the claimant. The bottle shattered and injured the claimant who argued that the injuries arose out of the passenger's use of the auto. The Supreme Court agreed, holding: "[t]he use of the automobile placed [assailant] in the position to throw the bottle at the sign and the vehicle's speed contributed to the velocity of the bottle *increasing the seriousness of [claimant's] injuries*." *Towe*, 314 S.C. at 107, 441 S.E.2d at 827 (emphasis added).

After analyzing both *Howser* and *Towe*, the District Court in *Holmes* recognized that the vehicle in *Howser* was an active accessory because it was used to ram and chase the plaintiff's vehicle and to keep up with the fleeing plaintiff to shoot her. The vehicle in *Towe* was an active accessory because its speed actually caused the claimant's injuries to be more severe. In contrast,

the victim in *Holmes* – and Harrison here – was stationary, and the severity of her injuries was not affected by the speed of the shooter’s vehicle. Therefore, the District Court held the drive-by shooting in *Holmes* was not comparable:

Unlike *Howser*, [assailant] did not use his vehicle to assault Plaintiff, as nothing in the record indicates that Plaintiff knew [assailant] was approaching her as she waited at the school bus stop or that [assailant’s] vehicle ever made contact with Plaintiff’s. Nor was Plaintiff traveling in her vehicle at the time [assailant] fired the gun, thus making [assailant’s] position in relation to Plaintiff dependent on the use of his vehicle. Moreover, unlike *Towe*, [assailant’s] use of his car did not increase the severity of potential harm inflicted by his gunshots. He merely used his car to approach Plaintiff, stopped his car next to her parked car, fired several gunshots at Plaintiff, and drove off. Thus, unlike the incidents giving rise to the South Carolina Supreme Court’s decisions in *Howser* and *Towe*, the court does not find that [assailant’s] car acted as an active accessory to his assault on the Plaintiff.

Id. at 1026-27.

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